2002

Linda Gillman v. Lowell H. Isom : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This case is on appeal from a final order entered August 13, 2002 by Judge William L. Bohling, Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah. Jurisdiction of this appellate Court is appropriate under Utah Code Ann. §78-2A-3(2)(j)(2001). The Supreme Court of Utah transferred these proceedings to the Appeal Court by order dated October 23, 2002, pursuant Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(4)(2001).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Under the governing language of Utah Code Ann. §31-A-309(1)(b)(1985), did the trial Court err by refusing to grant Appellant's motion to amend judgment by eliminating the offset of personal injury protection [PIP] benefits against the special damages award?

Standard of Review:

The trial Court's ruling allowing the PIP benefit offset against the special damages award is a decision on statutory construction which must be reviewed by the Court of Appeals for correctness, for which the trial Court's conclusions of law are given no difference. *See Newspaper Agency Corp. v. Audit Division*, 938 P.2d 266, 267 (Utah 1997).

2. Did the trial Court err in refusing to grant Appellant's motion to amend the judgement to eliminate the double application of the 10% reduction for contributory

negligence from Plaintiff's award of damages, where evidence substantiated the jury had already applied the reduction?

Standard of Review:

This issue presents mixed questions of law and fact that must be reviewed for abuse of discretion in applying the law to the facts. *See Woodhaven Apartments v. Washington*, 942 P.2d 918, 920 (Utah 1997).

3. Did the trial Court err in refusing to grant Plaintiff's costs?

Standard of Review:

The trial Court decision regarding costs is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *See Campbell v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 2001 UT 89, 432 Utah Adv. Reporter 44-P.3d-(Utah 2001).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE TO THE APPEAL

The prevailing statutory basis in this case is the no-fault section of the insurance code. Previous case law precedent was based on the original no-fault statute adopted by the Utah Legislature in 1973. The entire insurance code, including its no-fault provisions, was repealed in 1985 and replaced with the current code. Changes in the current no-fault provisions of the insurance code dissolved the statutory basis for treatment of personal injury protection [PIP] benefits, a core issue in this case. Both the 1973 code (repealed) and the 1985 code, as subsequently amended, are quoted below for ease of comparing the differences.

Previous Insurance Code

Utah Code Ann. § 31-41-9(2) (1973)

(1) No person for whom direct benefit coverage is provided for in this act shall be allowed to maintain a cause of action for general damages arising out of personal injuries alleged to have been caused by an automobile accident except where there has been caused by this accident any one or more of the following:

- (a) Death;
- (b) Dismemberment fracture;
- (c) Permanent disability;
- (d) Permanent disfigurement;
- or,
- (e) Medical expenses to a person in excess of \$500.

(2) The owner of a motor vehicle with respect to which security is required by this act who fails to have such security in effect at the time of an accident shall have no immunity from tort liability and shall be personally liable for the payment of the benefits provided under section 6 of this act.

Current Insurance Code

Utah Code Ann §31A-22-309 (2001)

(1)(a) A person who has or is required to have direct benefit coverage under a policy which includes personal injury protection may not maintain a cause of action for general damages caused by an automobile accident, except where the person has sustained one or more of the following:

- (i) death;
- (ii) dismemberment;
- (iii) permanent disability or permanent impairment based upon objective findings;
- (iv) permanent disfigurement;
- or
- (v) medical expenses to a person in excess of \$3,000.

(b) Subsection (1)(a) does not apply to persons making an uninsured motorist claim.

(2)(a) An insurer issuing personal injury protection coverage under this part may only exclude . . . & *etc.*

Neither the language nor the substance in paragraph 2 (above) of the 1973 no-fault code appears anywhere else in the current insurance statute.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. INTRODUCTION

The complaint in this case, filed September 22, 2000, sought damages for the Plaintiff's suffering and medical expenses incurred in an August 28, 1997 automobile accident caused by the Defendant, who turned his automobile left in front of the plaintiff, failing to yield and causing the collision.

B. SUMMARY OF THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW

The case was tried to a jury April 2-4, 2000. The jury returned its special verdict, awarding special damages in the amount of \$5,126 and general damages in the amount of \$10,000. The Court first reduced both the special damages and general damages by 10% based upon the jury verdict assigning Plaintiff contributory negligence of 10%. The Court then offset the special damages by an additional \$3,565.47, the amount that the Plaintiff had received in PIP benefits. Judgement was ultimately entered on April 29, 2000 in favor of the Plaintiff and against the Defendant in the amount of \$10,047.93. On May 6, 2000 the Plaintiff filed a motion to amend the judgement. After briefing and oral argument, the trial Court denied the Plaintiff's motion to amend the judgement, pursuant to an order entered on August 14, 2002. The Plaintiff filed a notice of appeal on September 10, 2002.

C. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. On August 28, 1997, Plaintiff was traveling west on 1300 South in Salt Lake City, Utah, approaching the 900 West intersection. Defendant was eastbound on 1300 South, positioned in the left turning lane at 900 West. Plaintiff had the right-of-way as she entered the 900 West intersection, but Defendant turned immediately in front of her, causing their vehicles to collide. Plaintiff sustained injuries; her car was a total loss.

2. At trial, Plaintiff established that she had incurred medical expenses of \$3,565.47. The Defendant, Lowell Isom, paid no portion of that amount.

3. On April 3, 2002, the jury received its instructions (Addendum, Exhibit 1), and the special verdict form (Addendum, Exhibit 2) from the Court.

4. At noon on April 4th, the jury submitted a note to the Court during deliberations, which said: "Do we account for the effect of joint negligence or does the Court?" (Addendum, Exhibit 3)

5. The Court answered this note, stating: "Please complete the special verdict form exactly as written in accordance with your answers as you proceed through the form." (Addendum, Exhibit 3).

6. The jury concluded its deliberations at approximately 1:10 p.m. on April 4th. The verdict divided comparative negligence between Defendant (90%) and

Plaintiff (10%). The Plaintiff was awarded \$5,126 in special damages and \$10,000 in general damages (see Addendum, Exhibit 2).

7. In the judgement, the Court applied a 10% reduction to the special damages award of \$5,126, decreasing the amount to \$4,613.40. The Court applied a 10% reduction to the general damages award of \$10,000, decreasing it to \$9,000.

8. The Court's judgement further reduced the special damages award by \$3,565.47, the amount of Plaintiff's PIP benefits, subtracting that amount from the \$4,613.40 to a final total of \$1,047.93.

9. The Court entered the judgment on April 29, 2003. Plaintiff filed a verified memorandum of costs May 3, 2001 in the amount of \$863.43.

10. After briefing and hearing, the Court denied Plaintiff's timely-filed motion to amend the judgement to recover the amount of PIP benefits in the special damages award and to recognize that the jury had already applied Plaintiff's 10% negligence allocation to its damages awards before the Court did so a second time. The Court also disallowed Plaintiff any costs.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In its ruling, the District Court relied upon the Utah Supreme Court's decision in *Allstate Insurance Company v. Ivie* 606 P.2d 1197 (Utah 1980) and the Supreme Court decision of *Dupuis v. Nielson* 624 P.2d 685 (Utah 1980). The substance of the Ivie decision allowed a grant of partial tort immunity to a tort-feasor, holding that

there was no personal liability for the PIP benefits paid by an insurer. Both decisions were based upon language of the insurance code that no longer exists. In 1985, the Utah Legislature repealed the former language of Section 31-41-9(2) of the Utah Code. The new language removed the section upon which the Court inferred in Ivie a comparable grant of partial immunity due the tort-feasor and provided no other statutory basis, either direct or implied, upon which this prior reasoning could be upheld. The Utah Legislature reversed the statutory basis of this decision. The District Court below must be reversed to conform likewise. There is no longer any foundation in the statute to justify reducing Plaintiff's special damages award by the amount of the PIP benefit.

The jury allocated to Plaintiff 10% of the negligence for the accident. The District Court failed to recognize from the evidence, that the jury had applied a 10% reduction to Plaintiff's general and special damages awards in its verdict. There are three elements to this evidence: (1) The trial Court had given the jury a clear instruction to comprehend contributory negligence in its calculation of damages awarded to Plaintiff; (2) The special verdict form followed the logical sequence of that explanation from the jury instruction; and, (3) During its deliberations, the jury sent the Court a note, specifically asking: "Do we account for the effect of joint negligence or does the Court?" The trial Court responded with this direction: "Please complete the special verdict form exactly as written, in accordance with your answers as you proceed through the form."

These are the sole elements of evidence on this issue. The jury instruction explained the principle of dividing negligence between Defendant and Plaintiff and provided a thorough example of how to calculate damages in the event of divided negligence. In its order of questions, the special verdict form provided the mechanism for the jury to determine and assign negligence on a percentage basis. Immediately following the question dividing negligence between Plaintiff (10%) and Defendant (90%) is the last question of the form: "What amount would fairly compensate plaintiff for the injuries proximately caused by the accident?" To this question, the jury filled in the amounts for special damages and general damages.

In the case of *Bishop v. GenTec, Inc*, 48 P.3d 218 (Utah 2002), the Supreme Court recognized appropriate circumstances in which a jury has already taken into account the reduction for comparative negligence in its award of damages. The jury in this case was preoccupied with its responsibility for applying the comparative negligence assigned to the Plaintiff in awarding damages. In answering the "fairly compensate Plaintiff" question of the special verdict form, the jury took into account the 10% reduction and hence under *Bishop, supra* the trial Court should not have reduced the award a second time.

The trial Court entered the judgment in Plaintiff's favor April 29, 2002. Plaintiff filed a verified memorandum of cost May 3, 2002. Included was a \$250 expense for mediation the trial Court had ordered. Defendant made no dispute of Plaintiff's costs except the \$250 for mediation. The trial Court heard argument

concerning the mediation cost at the hearing on Plaintiff's motion to amend the judgment for recovery of the PIP offset and the 10% reduction for comparative negligence. The trial Court ruled Plaintiff was not entitled to the \$250 mediation cost. In the order denying Plaintiff's motion to amend however, the Court disallowed Plaintiff all of her costs.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO AMEND THE JUDGEMENT TO ELIMINATE THE PIP OFFSET BECAUSE THE STATUTORY BASIS OF THE SUPREME COURT'S *IVIE* DECISION WAS REPEALED IN THE 1985 REPEAL OF THE INSURANCE CODE AND COMMON LAW CONFERRED NO RIGHT OF OFFSET TO DEFENDANT SINCE HE DID NOT PAY THE PIP BENEFITS.

In *Allstate Insurance Company v. Ivie*, 606 P.2d 1197 (Utah 1980) the Utah Supreme Court construed the then-existing Utah No-Fault Insurance Act to provide for the means whereby an insured tort-feasor, such as the Defendant, did not have any personal liability for payment of PIP benefits. The Court did so by the following language:

Section 2 of the act provides:

The purpose of this act is to require the payment of certain prescribed benefits in respect to motor vehicle accidents through either insurance or other approved security, but on the basis of no fault, preserving, however, the right of an injured person to pursue the customary tort claims where the most serious type of injuries occur. . .

(1) No person for whom direct benefit coverage is provided for in this act shall be allowed to maintain a cause of action for general damages arising out of personal injuries alleged to have been caused

by an automobile accident except where there has been caused by this accident anyone or more of the following:

- (a) Death;
- (b) Dismemberment or fracture;
- (c) Permanent disability; or
- (d) Medical expenses to a person in excess of \$500.

(2)The *owner* of a motor vehicle with respect to which security is required by this act who fails to have such security in effect at the time of an accident *shall have no immunity from tort liability and shall be personally liable for the payment of the benefits provided for under Section 31-41-6.* [Emphasis added]

Under this statutory plan, first party PIP benefits up to the amount provided in Section 6 are paid to an injured person without regard to fault. Furthermore, the injured party is precluded from maintaining an action to recover general damages (all damages other than those awarded for economic loss), except where the threshold requirements of Section 9(1) are met. Under Section 9(2), there are two consequences to the owner of a motor vehicle who fails to have the security required by Section 5: first, he has no immunity from tort liability; second, he is *personally liable* for the benefits provided under Section 6. The only logical inference is that if a party has the security required under Section 5, the no-fault insurance act confers two privileges: first, he is granted partial Tort immunity; second, his not personally liable for the benefits provided under Section 6. (See: *Ivie, supra* 606 P.2d at 1199-1200.)

The Supreme Court interpreted this statute with the only logical inference of the then-existing statutory language, that an insured tort-feasor would be free of personal liability for the PIP benefits. In the 1981 decision of *Dupuis v. Nielson*, 624 P.2d 685 (Utah 1981), the Supreme Court endorsed a method of handling the PIP benefits issue in a jury trial similar to that used by the trial Court below in this case.

Specifically, the Supreme Court refused to reverse the trial Court's decision to allow evidence of the total medical expenses to be presented to the jury, but then provided for an offset of the special damages by the amount of PIP benefits paid to the Plaintiff. The *Dupuis, supra*, decision, which was based upon the *Ivie* analysis, was proper under the then-existing statute.

In 1985 the Utah State legislature adopted a revision of the entire insurance code. In this revision, the statutory basis of *Ivie, supra*, was eliminated. Pursuant to that change, Utah Code Ann. 31-41-9(2)(1953) was replaced with the following language of Utah Code Ann. 31A-22-302(b)(1985):

**Utah Code Ann.
31-41-9(2)(1973)**

2) The owner of a motor vehicle with respect to which security is required by this act who fails to have such security in effect at the time of an accident shall have no immunity from tort liability and shall be personally liable for the payment of the benefits provided under section 6 of this act.

**Utah Code Ann.
1A-22-302(b)(1985)**

(b) Subsection (1)(a) does not apply to a person making an uninsured motorist claim.

In making this change, the Utah Legislature eliminated the language "*shall be personally liable for the payment of the benefits provided for under section. . .*" 31-41-6, which was the basis of the *Ivie, supra*, decision. The statutory revision took away the foundation of PIP benefit immunity for an insured tort-

feasor. The current language of the statute is unambiguous and therefore its plain language should be applied, a doctrine of interpretation the Utah Supreme Court has firmly entrenched. See *Blackner v. State*, 48 P.3d 949 (Utah 2001).

The trial Court overlooked this statutory change and the resulting dissolution of the Defendant's grant of tort-feasor partial immunity for PIP benefits that was reserved under the prior language. The trial Court should have recognized that without the statutory protection provided by the prior language, the Defendant, who did not personally pay any of Plaintiff's medical expenses, had no right of offset and was liable for these special damages awarded by the jury. The Supreme Court has devised definite criteria for grounding the right of subrogee offset. Defendant meets none of them. See *State Farm Mut. v. Northwestern Nat. Ins.*, 912 P.2d 983 (Utah 1996). In refusing to modify the judgement to set aside the offset, the trial Court erred and this Court should correct that error by reversing the trial Court's decision on the treatment of PIP benefits.

II. THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO RECOGNIZE THAT THE JURY HAD ALREADY APPLIED THE 10% REDUCTION OF DAMAGES FOR THE PLAINTIFF'S COMPARATIVE NEGLIGENCE AND SHOULD NOT HAVE APPLIED A SECOND 10% REDUCTION.

The Utah Supreme Court in *Bishop v. GenTec Inc.*, 48 P.3d 218 (Utah 2002) recognized that under appropriate circumstances, a trial court should adjust a judgement to recognize that a jury has already applied the comparative negligence

award reduction and not reduce the award a second time. This is just such a case and the trial Court below committed error in not amending the judgement to account for the second reduction of the award. This Court must look to the evidence to determine the legitimate foundation of this issue. There are three parts to this evidence: (1) jury instruction; (2) the special verdict form; and (3) the content of a note exchanged between the judge and jury.

The jury in this case below was given the following instruction for comprehending comparative negligence in its verdict:

If you find that the Defendant was negligent, you may decide if the Plaintiff was also negligent. If the Plaintiff was negligent, and the Plaintiff's negligence was a proximate cause of the Plaintiff's own injury, the Plaintiff's negligence must be compared to the negligence of the Defendant.

A Plaintiff whose negligence is less than 50% of the total negligence caused by Plaintiff's injury, may still recover compensation, but the amount will be reduced by the amount of Plaintiff's negligence. If the Plaintiff's negligence is equal to or greater than the negligence of the Defendant, then the Plaintiff may recover nothing. For example if you find the Plaintiff's negligence was 30% of all negligence causing the injury, then the Plaintiff's recovery would be reduced by 30%. On the other hand, if you find that the Plaintiff's negligence is 50% or greater, then the Plaintiff will recover nothing.

The special verdict form was simple and provided an uncomplicated mechanism to unambiguously develop the intent of this jury instruction for comprehending comparative negligence with its sequence of only six questions, which the jury answered as follows:

MEMBERS OF THE JURY:

Please answer the following questions. If six of you are persuaded by the evidence in favor of the question, answer it "yes." If, on the question, six of you are not so persuaded, or if you are persuaded by the evidence against the question presented, answer it "no."

1. Was the defendant negligent?

ANSWER: Yes X No _____

(If you answered No. 1 above "no," then go no further and return to the courtroom.)

2. If you answered No. 1 above "yes," was such negligence a proximate cause of the accident?

ANSWER: Yes X No _____

(If you answered No. 2 above "no," then go no further and return to the courtroom.)

3. Was the plaintiff negligent?

ANSWER: Yes X No _____

4. If you answered No. 3 above "yes," was such negligence a proximate cause of the accident?

ANSWER: Yes X No _____

5. If you answered "yes" to Nos. 1, 2, 3, and 4 above, then what percentage of the negligence should be allocated to defendant, and what percentage of negligence should be allocated to plaintiff?

Plaintiff 10 %

Defendant 90 %

(Total must equal 100%)

6. What amount would fairly compensate plaintiff for the injuries proximately caused by the accident?

Special Damages \$ 5,126⁰⁰

General Damages \$ 10,000⁰⁰

The jury instruction explained the principle of dividing negligence between Defendant and Plaintiff by elucidating the option that the jury could find both the Plaintiff and the Defendant negligent in the “proximate cause of the Plaintiff’s own injury. . .”

The example furnished further reinforcement to the intent of ‘whether and how’ the jury was instructed to conform its verdict for comprehending comparative negligence in the amount, if any, of a damage award. The language of the jury instruction is specific. That specificity is germane to reasoning an accurate conclusion :

A Plaintiff whose negligence is less than 50% of the total negligence caused by the Plaintiff’s injury, may still recover compensation, **but the *amount* will be reduced by the amount of Plaintiff’s negligence.** [Emphasis added]

This sentence is evidence that the jury understood there was a direct relationship between the *percentage* of Plaintiff’s negligence and the compensation *amount* Plaintiff might recover.

If the Plaintiff’s negligence is equal to or greater than the negligence of the Defendant, then the Plaintiff may recover *nothing*. [Emphasis added]

This succeeding sentence is further evidence that it was the jury's duty to compare the negligence of the Plaintiff to the negligence of the Defendant and award the Plaintiff *nothing* if her percentage exceeded his. Hence, the *amount* of her award would be *nothing*. The jury instruction proceeds to confirm this understanding with a precise example of how the principle is applied:

For example, **if you find the Plaintiff's negligence was 30% of all negligence causing the injury, then the Plaintiff's recovery would be reduced by 30%.** [Emphasis added]

The example demonstrates again, with specific language, that it was the jury's duty to first establish negligence, then divide it on a percentage basis between Defendant and Plaintiff, then reduce Plaintiff's recovery by the percentage of negligence assigned her. The overall logical intent of the instruction example is bolstered by this last sentence:

On the other hand, **if you find that the Plaintiff's negligence is 50% or greater, then the Plaintiff will recover *nothing*.** [Emphasis added]

Evidence establishes that the substance of the jury instruction for calculating damages conferred upon the jury the responsibility for reducing Plaintiff's damage award by the percentage of comparative negligence assigned her.

The language is specific in relating the percentage of negligence to the amount of recovery, indicating that comparative negligence of 30% meant recovery was reduced by 30%, and finishing with the direction that if Plaintiff's negligence exceeded 50%, she would recover nothing, an *amount* of zero.

There is evidence that the jury was preoccupied with the question of whether it was responsible for applying the comparative negligence reduction assigned to Plaintiff in calculating her damages. At noon on April 4th, the jury exchanged notes with the judge on the subject. The jury's note read: *"Do we account for the effect of the joint negligence or does the Court?"* The Court properly responded with the following additional instruction: *"Please complete the special verdict form exactly as written, in accordance with your answers as you proceed through the form."*

Evidence establishes the jury gave serious consideration to applying Plaintiff's 10% share of comparative negligence to the damage award, a question significant enough to prompt a note for clarification to the Court. The jury had been deliberating at least four hours before submitting the question. It apparently had already determined the comparative negligence division between Defendant and Plaintiff by that time and was in the process of computing damages, or the question would not have been prompted. The only remaining question for the jury to decide was the *amount* of Plaintiff's damages. Another 70 minutes elapsed before that decision was finalized and the jury notified the Court it had reached a

verdict. Evidence establishes the jury gave considerable time to ensuring the correct method of calculating Plaintiff's damages, which included their clear instruction to apply Plaintiff's percentage of comparative negligence to the *amount* of damages awarded. Absent other language to the contrary in the instructions, or evidence the jury followed another course, no other conclusion is reasonable.

Under such circumstances, the trial Court should not have made a second 10% reduction and should have amended the judgement when timely requested to do so. This Court should recognize the error of the trial Court and utilize the discretion given it by the *Bishop, supra* decision to reverse that error and instruct the trial Court to award judgement for the full \$5,126 in special damages and \$10,000 in general damages.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN FAILING TO GRANT PLAINTIFF'S COSTS.

The trial Court entered the judgment April 29, 2002. Plaintiff's verified memorandum of costs under Rule 54(d) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure was filed timely on May 3, 2002 in the amount of \$863.43. That total included \$250.00 for mediation costs, mediation the Court had ordered in advance of trial. This Court has previously held that an award of mediation as cost, is within the discretion of a trial court. *See: Stevenett v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 977 P.2d 508 (Utah App. 1999) Defendant did not dispute any of Plaintiff's costs except the \$250 for mediation.

When Plaintiff filed the motion to amend the judgment to recover the PIP offset and the double application of the 10% comparative negligence reduction, the trial Court heard argument concerning only the \$250 mediation cost and denied granting Plaintiff this cost.

In its order denying Plaintiff's motion to amend the judgment, the trial Court denied Plaintiff all her costs, not just the mediation expense. This total denial of costs, both for court-ordered mediation and other undisputed costs, is an abuse of discretion which requires this Court to reverse the trial Court.