2002

Linda Gillman v. Lowell H. Isom : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

8. Summary of Argument

More than twenty years of Utah no-fault PIP cases clearly establish that Gillman is not entitled to a double recovery from Isom for the no-fault PIP benefits she has already received from her own automobile insurance policy.

Failure to file a timely verified memorandum of costs is fatal under Utah law to any award of costs, and Gillman's memorandum was untimely. In any event, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in declining to award costs.

Gillman fails to approach the *Bishop v. Gen Tec* rationale for invading the

sanctity of the jury deliberation room. Gillman, unlike Bishop, has not produced an iota of evidence that the Special Verdict reflects anything other than exactly what the jury meant to award Gillman

9. Argument

POINT I

GILLMAN IS NOT ENTITLED TO A DOUBLE RECOVERY FOR THE \$3565.47 IN NO-FAULT PIP BENEFITS SHE PREVIOUSLY RECEIVED.

Allstate Insurance Co. v. Ivie, 606 P.2d 1197 (Utah 1980), held that a tortfeasor is not personally liable to the no-fault injured insured for special damages previously compensated by PIP benefits from the no-fault insurer, and that the injured party should, therefore, not be allowed to plead for those damages against the tortfeasor.

In *Bear River Mut. Ins. Co. v. Wall*, 937 P.2d 1282, 1287-1291, (Utah App. 1997), the Court discussed thoroughly the basic anti double recovery proposition of *Allstate* and the numerous cases that reaffirmed it including, for example, *Dupuis v. Nielson*, 624 P. 2d 685, 686 (Utah 1981), and *Laub v. South Cent. Utah Tel. Ass'n* 657 P.2d 1304 (Utah 1982). The holding of *Allstate* is “predicated upon the proposition that a basic principle of the No-Fault Act is to prevent double recovery

by the no-fault insured,” (*Dupuis, supra*, at 686), and “thus to avoid increased costs of insurance coverage” (*Laub, supra*, at 1309).

Laub 657 P.2d 1304 (Utah 1982), not only vigorously reaffirmed the holding of *Allstate*, it also strenuously emphasized that an injured plaintiff “should therefore not be allowed even to plead for (special damages previously compensated by PIP benefits from the no-fault insurer),” (*Laub* at 1307), and that pleading for previously compensated damages is improper and that a judgment should never include the previously compensated benefits.

Now, on appeal, Gillman argues, for the first time, that the 1985 revision of the insurance code overrules *Ivie* and its progeny. Gillman argues that the pre 1985 subparagraph (2) of old Section 31-41-9 does not appear in the 1985 reenacted Section 31A-22-309, and that, according to Gillman, this somehow reverses twenty years of appellate court decisions. Gillman’s argument ignores the fact that the very subparagraph (2) of old Section 31-41-9 upon which Gillman’s argument relies still appears in the reenacted insurance code at Section 41-12a-304. Moreover, it is troubling that Gillman’s new argument now ignores specific language of *Bear River v. Wall*, a case Gillman cited to the trial judge in Gillman’s Memorandum in Support of Motion to Amend Judgment, R.,301. In fact, *Bear River v. Wall*, cited by Gillman below, but not here, addresses and rejects the very argument Gillman now

makes.

First, at footnote 6 on page 1287, *Bear River v. Wall* points out that the old subparagraph (2) of old Section 31-41-9 now appears, substantially identical, in Section 41-12a-304.

Second, at footnote 3 on page 1285, *Bear River v. Wall*, a 1997 case, specifically states that supreme court cases following the 1985 reenactment of the No-Fault Insurance Act “have not interpreted the current provisions of the statute at issue differently from the former provisions.”

Third, at page 1291, in 1997, 12 years after the 1985 reenactment of the insurance code, the *Bear River v. Wall* court still recognized the principle that the tortfeasor is not personally liable for PIP benefits, and that the purpose of the no-fault statute is to prevent double recovery.

Indeed, *Bear River*, at footnote 13 on page 1290, quotes *Laub* at 1307:

the injured party should therefore not be allowed even to plead for [PIP benefits]. However, if a plaintiff does improperly plead for previously compensated damages and they are allowed to be included in the judgement, the court should . . . reduce the judgment by the amount of those previously compensated damages, and thereby prevent double recovery.

Given *Allstate* and its progeny, the trial judge was quite correct in not allowing Gillman a double recovery for the \$3,565.47 in PIP benefits that she had

undisputedly received.

Gillman is in a bad equity position to complain. The trial judge gave Gillman a break by allowing her to put on evidence of the \$3565.47, which undoubtedly drove up the pain and suffering, general damages award, before the judge reduced the verdict by the \$3565.47 in special damages. Gillman's trial lawyer lodged no objection to the specific verdict reduction recitals in the proposed Judgement on Special Verdict before it was entered, nor is there any evidence from Gillman's trial lawyer that this was not the way the judge and counsel agreed to handle the matter. R., 430 at pages 11-12. (Gillman's lawyer on appeal, her husband, did not participate in the trial as a lawyer, but, rather, as a witness for his wife.) The trial judge was perfectly free to grant the set off at any point, and the Judgement on Special Verdict reflects precisely what the judge did, as does the Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion to Amend Judgment.

POINT II

GILLMAN IS NOT ENTITLED TO
COSTS BECAUSE GILLMAN DID NOT
COMPLY WITH RULE 54 (d)(2). IN ANY
EVENT, THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS
DISCRETION IN NOT AWARDING COSTS.

Rule 54(d)(2) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is the applicable rule. It

requires a party who claims costs to, within 5 days of Entry of Judgment (the trial judge signed the Judgment on April 26, 2002 and the Judgment was entered on April 29, 2002) “file with the court [a memorandum of costs] duly verified” (emphasis added). In this case, no verified memorandum was filed until well after the 5 day window provided by Rule 54(d)(2). Indeed, on May 13, 2002, Isom filed a Memorandum in Support of Motion to Have Costs Taxed By Court (R., 340-343) that stated:

POINT I

PLAINTIFF IS NOT ENTITLED TO ANY
COSTS BECAUSE PLAINTIFF HAS NOT
COMPLIED WITH RULE 54(d)(2).

Although Gillman’s’s initial offering was captioned “Verified,” it was not verified, nor was there an “affiant” as required by the rule. R., 287-288; Addendum Exhibit 2. Moreover, Gillman admitted to the trial court she had not complied with the rule when, on May 21, 2002, Gillman, in her Reply in Support of Motion to Amend Judgement, told the judge she had “amended the Verified Memorandum of Costs . . . to add a verification page. An oversight was made in the original . . . which has since been corrected.” R., 377. It was only after May 13, long after the 5 day window closed, that Gillman belatedly complied with the rule. Therefore, having failed to timely comply with the applicable rule, Gillman was not entitled to

any costs. *Lyon v. Burton*, 5 P. 3d 616 (Utah 2000), held that compliance with the rule is mandatory and leaves no discretion to the trial judge.

Finally, in any event, it has long been the rule that even if there has been compliance with Rule 54(d)(2), the awarding of costs is discretionary with the trial judge. *Lyon v. Burton* at 637. Gillman has presented no evidence that the trial judge abused his discretion. At pages 21-22 of her Brief, Gillman argues Isom did not dispute any of her costs except the mediation. This simply ignores the record, not only what is mentioned above, but also the transcript of the hearing on the post trial motions, R., 430, wherein, at page 10, Isom made both the Rule 54 (d)(2) argument and opposed deposition costs.

POINT III

GILLMAN'S *BISHOP V. GEN TEC* ARGUMENT
IS INCORRECT. THERE WAS NO DOUBLE
REDUCTION FOR GILLMAN'S OWN FAULT.
GILLMAN'S CLAIM THAT THE JURY REDUCED
HER DAMAGES BY HER 10% COMPARATIVE
NEGLIGENCE IS PURE SPECULATION.

Gillman's claim here is, apparently, that based upon the jury's question, which was not objected to at the time, "Do we account for the effect of joint negligence or does the Court," that the jury somehow, on its own, contrary to the instructions that it had been given, reduced the plaintiff's award by 10% when it

answered the questions on the Special Verdict. This, however, is pure speculation. Before the jury started to deliberate, the judge instructed the jury with no objection from Gillman. When the jury sent out its question, the judge instructed the jury, again with no objection from Gillman, in response to the jury's question, "Please complete the Special Verdict Form exactly as written, in accordance with your answers as you proceed through the form." It is pure speculation that the jury reduced the damages by 10% when it answered the questions on the Special Verdict Form. It is more likely the jury followed the Court's instructions. The \$10,000 award evidences that the jury did not reduce by 10%. \$11,111 is an odd number, but if the jury had reduced by 10%, \$11,111.11 would have had to be the jury's number for the jury to, as Gillman now speculates, reduce by 10% on its own. This too, is pure speculation, but evidences the quagmire we venture into if we go by anything other than the Special Verdict.

Gillman fails to approach the *Bishop v. Gen Tec* rationale for invading the sanctity of the jury deliberation room. Gillman, unlike Bishop, produced not an iota of evidence that the Special Verdict reflects anything other than exactly what the jury meant to award Gillman.

Also, in our pending case, unlike *Bishop*, the mathematics defeat Gillman's wish for more money. In *Bishop*, the verdict form awarded Bishop \$750,000 for

general damages and found Bishop 25% at fault. Bishop's lawyer, Mr. Young, then came forward with affidavits from three jurors, including the foreperson, that the jury found Bishop's general damages to be \$1,000,000, and that the jury already reduced the general damages by 25% of fault, thus resulting in the \$750,000 the jury wrote in on the verdict form.

In our pending case, the jury awarded Gillman \$10,000 in general damages, and found her to be 10% at fault. Gillman, unlike Bishop, has not come forward with a single affidavit. The mathematics supported Bishop's argument. Not so for Gillman. For Gillman's argument to work that the jury already reduced Gillman's award for her percentage of fault and that the judge did it a second time, the jury's raw number for general damages would have to have been \$11,111.11, a very strange number for general damages indeed.

10. Conclusion Stating Precise Relief Sought

All of the arguments Gillman raises on appeal have no merit. The Judgment should be affirmed in all respects.